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I.
FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS
1.
Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 (ABA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 4151 - 4157.

The ABA requires that certain buildings and facilities designed, constructed, altered, or leased with federal funds be accessible to people with disabilities.

2.
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, P.L. 93-112, 87 Stat. 355, (and as subsequently amended), 29 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq.

Title V of the Rehabilitation Act prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability.  Title V's specific mandates include:

a.
Section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C.

§ 791 (covering the federal government as an employer)

*
Provides that the rights and remedies available under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-16, are available to redress violations of Section 501.

b.
Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C.

§ 793 (covering federal contractors and sub-contractors as employers)

*
No private right of action available.  Administrative complaints can be filed with the U.S. Department of Labor, Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs.

c.
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C.

§ 794 (covering federal programs and recipients of federal financial

assistance  since 1973)(amended in 1978 to extend to federally conducted,

as well as federally assisted, programs and activities)

*
All Circuits ruling subsequent to Franklin v. Gwinnett County Public Schools, 503 U.S. 60, 112 S.Ct. 1028, 117 L.Ed.2d 208 (1992), have held compensatory damages to be available under Section 504, with some Circuits reversing Circuit precedent prior to Franklin on this issue.

*
The "full panoply of remedies, including equitable relief and monetary damages" are clearly available in the Ninth Circuit under Greater Los Angeles Council on Deafness, Inc. v. Zolin, 812 F.2d. 1103, 1107 (9th Cir. 1987), and its progeny.

*
But see, Lane v. Pena, 518 U.S. 187, 116 S.Ct. 2092, 135 L.Ed.2d 486 (1996), holding that damages are not available against the federal government under Section 504, because Congress did not waive federal sovereign immunity as to that remedy.

*
But see, Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Alabama v. Garrett,

121 S.Ct. 955 (2001), and Tennessee v. Lane, 121 S.Ct. 1978 (2004), analyzing Eleventh Amendment immunity and availability of damages against states under ADA (with potential implications for Section 504 analysis).

*
Attorneys fees available to prevailing plaintiffs.

*
But see, Buckhannon Bd. and Care Home v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources, 121 S.Ct.1835 (2001), holding that “catalyst theory” is not a permissible basis for award of attorneys fees under ADA and FHAA, and fees are not recoverable in cases in which litigation prompted defendant compliance with the law but did not result in judgment on the merits or a court-ordered consent decree. 

Section 504 is further defined through implementing regulations, including but not limited to (some regulations covering federally assisted programs):

i.
Original U.S. Dept of Health, Education & Welfare (HEW),

45 C.F.R. part 84 (1977)

ii. U.S. Dept of Education (DOE), 34 C.F.R. part 104 (1980)

iii. U.S. Dept of Health & Human Srvs (HHS), 45 C.F.R. part 84 (1980)
iv.
U.S. Dept of Housing & Urban Development (HUD)

24 C.F.R. part 8 (1988)

3.
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990 (IDEA), formerly known as the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 (EHA), 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq. [also known by its public law number as PL 94-142]

The IDEA/EHA gives funds to state and local school systems to provide special education services to children and youth with disabilities that affect learning.  The Act also requires that funding recipients make positive efforts to employ and advance qualified individuals with disabilities.

The Act is further defined through implementing regulations, including:

a.
U.S. Department of Education (DOE) Regulations, 34 C.F.R part 300

4.
Rehabilitation, Comprehensive Services and Developmental Disabilities Amendments of 1978 (1978 Rehabilitation Act Amendments), P.L. 95-602, 92 Stat. 2955, 29 U.S.C. §§ 794, 794a(a)(2) and 794a(b) (1978)

In 1978, Congress amended Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 to specify that, in addition covering entities receiving "federal financial assistance," this federal disability nondiscrimination mandate would also cover "any program or activity conducted by any executive agency or by the United States Postal Service."  The 1978 Amendments also added Section 505(a)(2), which expressly incorporates the "remedies, procedures and rights set forth in title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964."  In addition, Section 505(b) was added, providing prevailing parties a right to attorneys fees.

5.
Handicapped Children's Protection Act of 1986 (HCPA),

20 U.S.C § 1415(e)(4)

The HCPA enables attorneys to recover attorneys fees for IDEA/EHA cases.  

The Act reverses an adverse U.S. Supreme Court decision that held that attorneys fees were not recoverable in EHA cases: 

a.
Smith v. Robinson, 468 U.S. 992, 104 S.Ct. 3457, 82 L.Ed.2d 746 (1984)

6.
Air Carrier Access Act of 1986 (ACAA), 49 U.S.C. § 41705

The ACAA prohibits discrimination by air carriers against persons with disabilities.  Alert: the ACAA is the only civil rights statute that does not
authorize attorneys fees to prevailing party.

The Act reverses an adverse U.S. Supreme Court decision that held that § 504 did not extend to air carriers absent receipt of direct federal subsidies:

a.
U.S. Department of Transportation v. Paralyzed Veterans of America, 477 U.S. 597, 106 S.Ct. 2705, 91 L.Ed.2d 494 (1986)(known by its unofficial abbreviation to "DOT v. PVA")

The Act is further defined through implementing regulations, including:

a.
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) Regulations, 14 C.F.R. part 382

7.
Civil Rights and Remedies Equalization Act of 1986 ('Remedies Act')

P.L. 99-506, 100 Stat. 1807, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-7 (1988)  

The Remedies Act was passed in response to a June 1985 U.S. Supreme Court decision holding that Congress had not abrogated states' U.S. Constitutional Eleventh Amendment immunity to suit in federal court under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.  Congress enacted the Remedies Act to specify that (1) states were not immune, under the Eleventh Amendment, to suit in federal court for violations of Section 504, and (2) remedies "both at law and in equity" were equally available against both state and non-state entities.

a.
Atascadero State Hospital v. Scanlon, 473 U.S. 234 (1985)

8.
Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1988 (CRRA), 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681 n., 1687, 1687 n., 1688, 1688 n., 29 U.S.C. §§ 706, 794(b) & (c),42 U.S.C. § 2000d-4a, 6107 Supp. 

The CRAA ensures broad coverage of civil rights laws, including § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. The Act restores coverage that had previously been severely restricted by an adverse U.S. Supreme Court decision:

a.
Grove City College v. Bell, 465 U.S. 555, 79 L.Ed.2d 516,

104 S.Ct. 1211 (1984)

9.
Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 (FHAA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq. 

The FHAA prohibits discrimination against housing applicants, tenants, and buyers with physical or mental disabilities.  The Act also provides an entitlement to reasonable accommodation, and establishes accessibility requirements for newly constructed multi-family dwellings.

The Act is further defined by implementing regulations, including:

a.
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Regulations, 24 C.F.R parts 14, 100, 103, 104, 105, 106, 109, 110, 115, and 121

10.
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq. 

The ADA provides civil rights protections in employment, state and local government services, public accommodations, transportation, and telecommunications, for persons with disabilities.

*
But see, Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Alabama v. Garrett,

121 S.Ct. 955 (2001), and Tennessee v. Lane, 121 S.Ct. 1978 (2004), analyzing Eleventh Amendment immunity and availability of damages against states under ADA.

*
Statutory attorneys fees for prevailing plaintiffs (no defense fees unless stringent Christenburg standard met - frivolous, bad faith)

*
Expert fees of prevailing party payable by defendants.

*
But see, Buckhannon Bd. and Care Home v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human Resources, 121 S.Ct.1835 (2001), holding that “catalyst theory” is not a permissible basis for award of attorneys fees under ADA and FHAA, and fees are not recoverable in cases in which litigation prompted defendant compliance with the law but did not result in judgment on the merits or a court-ordered consent decree.

The Act is further defined by implementing regulations, including:

a.
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) Regulations implementing Title I of the ADA (employment), 29 C.F.R. part 1630,

published at 56 Fed. Reg. 35726 (July 26, 1991)

b.
U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) Regulations implementing Title II of the ADA (state and local government services, excluding transit), 28 C.F.R.

part 35, published at 56 Fed. Reg. 35694 (July 26, 1991)

c.
U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) Regulations implementing Title III of the ADA (public accommodations and commercial facilities), 28 C.F.R. part 36, published at 56 Fed. Reg. 35544 (July 26, 1991);  see also, ADA Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) for Buildings and Facilities, Appendix

A to part 36

d.
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) Regulations implementing Titles II and III of the ADA as to public transit only, 49 C.F.R. parts 27,

37 and 38, published at 56 Fed. Reg. 45584 (September 6, 1991)

e.
Federal Communications Commission Regulations implementing Title IV of the ADA (telecommunications), summary of regulations at 56 Fed. Reg. 36729 (August 1, 1991), full regulation FCC Docket # 90-571

11.
Civil Rights Act of 1991 (CRA '91), 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 et seq. 

The CRA '91 entitles victims of unlawful employment discrimination to recover compensatory damages (in cases of intentional discrimination) and punitive damages (in cases of intentional discrimination where the employer's conduct was "wanton, wilful or reckless") under the Title I of the ADA.  Jury trial available if potential for damages.  Total amount of compensatory and punitive damages cannot 
exceed the following amounts per defendant, based on the number of employees: 

a.
15  - 100 employees: 
$ 50,000

b.
101 - 200 employees:
$100,000

c.
201 - 500 employees:
$200,000

d.
> 500 employees:
$300,000
Passed to negate U.S. Supreme Court decisions viewed as making it too difficult for plaintiffs to prove and remedy employment discrimination.


a.
See Wards Cove Packing Co., 490 U.S. 642 (1989) and its progeny

II.
OTHER RELATED FEDERAL ENACTMENTS
1.
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq. 

The FMLA was enacted to balance the needs of the family with the demands of the workplace.  Whenever a "serious health condition," as defined by the FMLA, also qualifies as a "disability," as defined by the ADA, an action that violates the FMLA will also violate the ADA.

2.
National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 151 et seq.

Labor organizations, including labor-management and joint labor-management committees, are specifically identified as "covered entities" subject to Title I of the ADA.  Therefore, such organizations are subject to the potentially conflicting requirements of both the NLRA, which governs the conduct of labor unions and the conduct of employers as it relates to labor unions, and the ADA.

III.
CALIFORNIA CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS
1.
Civil Code
a.
Unruh Civil Rights Act, Cal Civ. Code §§ 51 et seq.

The Unruh Civil Rights Act entitles all persons, including those with disabilities, to the full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges an services in all business establishments.

*
As clarified by AB2222 (2000), 2000 Stats., ch. 1049 ( the “Prudence Kay Poppink Act”), the Unruh Act includes definitions of “disability” that are broader than federal definitions.

*
Provides independent state law entitlement of “full and equal”
access,” in addition to incorporating provisions of the

federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA)

pursuant to AB1077 (1992), 1992 Stats., ch. 913.

*
Minimum statutory damages of $4,000, with potential for treble damages (as amended, effective January 1, 2002).

*
See Cal. Civ. Code § 3294.5, added by S.B. 1102, § 8.5, Stats. 2004, ch. 227, effective August 16, 2004 to July 1, 2006, requiring that 75% of all punitive damages judgments be paid to the State of Calif. due to extraordinary & dire budget needs.

*
Attorneys fees available to prevailing plaintiffs.

*
See Ketchum v. Moses, 24 Cal. 4th 1122 (2001), holding 

enhancement or multiplier of lodestar plaintiff attorneys fees

available in anti-SLAPP litigation.

*
See Graham v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., 34 Cal. 4th 553 (2004), as modified (Jan 12, 2005), and Tipton-Whittingham v. City of Los Angeles, 34 Cal. 4th 604 (2004), holding that “catalyst theory” attorneys fees can be awarded under California state law pursuant to analysis specified in these decisions.

b.
California Disabled Persons Act (CDPA), Cal. Civ. Code §§ 54.1 et seq.

The Public Accommodations law entitles individuals with disabilities to full and equal access, as other members of the general public, to public accommodations.

*
As clarified by AB2222 (2000), 2000 Stats., ch. 1049 (the “Prudence Kay Poppink Act”), the Public Accommodations law includes definitions of “disability” that are broader than federal law definitions.

*
Provides independent state law entitlement of “full and equal

access,” in addition to incorporating provisions of the

federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA)

pursuant to AB1077 (1992), 1992 Stats., ch. 913.

*
Minimum statutory damages of $1,000, with potential for treble damages (as amended, effective January 1, 1997).

*
See Cal. Civ. Code § 3294.5, added by S.B. 1102, § 8.5, Stats. 2004, ch. 227, effective August 16, 2004 to July 1, 2006, requiring that 75% of all punitive damages judgments be paid to the State of California due to extraordinary and dire budgetary needs.

*
Attorneys fees available to prevailing plaintiffs.

*
See Ketchum v. Moses, 24 Cal. 4th 1122 (2001), holding

enhancement or multiplier of lodestar plaintiff attorneys fees

available in anti-SLAPP litigation.

*
See Graham v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., 34 Cal. 4th 553 (2004), as modified (Jan 12, 2005), and Tipton-Whittingham v. City of Los Angeles, 34 Cal. 4th 604 (2004), holding that “catalyst theory” attorneys fees can be awarded under California state law pursuant to analysis specified in these decisions.

2.
Government Code 

a.
Sections 11135 et seq. 

These sections prohibit discrimination under programs or activities that are either funded by, or receive financial assistance from, the state of California.

*
Pursuant to AB1670 (1999), Stats. 1999, ch. 591, Section 11139 provides for enforcement through civil action for equitable relief, overruling previous case law holding no private right of action under these sections.

*
Pursuant to AB677 (2001), Stats. 2001, ch. 708, Section 11135 expressly provides for coverage of the state itself and state agencies, as well as state-funded entities.

· Pursuant to AB677 (2001), Stats. 2001, ch. 708, Section 11135 clarifies that the applicable definitions of “disability” that are broader than federal law definitions.

These sections are further defined through implementing regulations, including:

i.
22 C.C.R. §§ 98000 et seq.

a.
Fair Employment & Housing Act (FEHA), Cal. Gov. §§ 12940 et seq. [Employment Provisions]
The FEHA deems that it shall be an unlawful employment practice for any employer to refuse to hire, to terminate, or to discriminate in compensation on the basis of disability.  Among other nondiscrimination protections, FEHA provides an entitlement to reasonable accommodation in employment.

*
As clarified by AB2222 (2000), 2000 Stats., ch. 1049 (the “Prudence Kay Poppink Act”), FEHA includes definitions of “disability” that are broader than federal law definitions.

*
Attorneys fees available to prevailing plaintiffs.

*
Compensatory & punitive damages available without regard

to federal caps.

*
See Cal. Civ. Code § 3294.5, added by S.B. 1102, § 8.5, Stats. 2004, ch. 227, effective August 16, 2004 to July 1, 2006, requiring that 75% of all punitive damages judgments be paid to the State of California due to extraordinary and dire budgetary needs.

FEHA employment provisions further defined through regulations, including:


i.
2 C.C.R. §§ 7285 et seq.

b.
Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), Cal. Gov. §§ 12927(c), 12955 et seq. [Housing Provisions]
The FEHA deems that it shall be unlawful for the owner of any housing accommodation to discriminate against any person because of disability.  Act also provides an entitlement to reasonable accommodation, and establishes 
accessibility requirements for newly constructed multi-family dwellings.

*
Notes above with respect to FEHA employment provisions are also relevant to housing.
*
No regulations implementing FEHA housing provisions.
c. California Family Rights Act (CFRA), Cal. Gov. Code §§ 12945.2, 19702.3

The CFRA was enacted to balance the needs of the family with the demands of the workplace, providing an entitlement to family care and medical leave related to disability or "serious health condition."

The CFRA is further defined through implementing regulations, including:

i.
2 C.C.R. §§ 7291 et seq.

3.
Insurance Code
a.
Section 10144 & Section 10145
These sections prohibit insurers from discriminating in the services they provide solely because of a physical or mental impairment, except where the disparate treatment is based on sound actuarial principles or is related to actual and reasonably anticipated experience.
IV.
OTHER RELATED STATE ENACTMENTS
1.
Business & Professions Code
a.
Unfair Business Practices Act, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.

The Unfair Business Practices Act prohibits unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business acts practices and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising.

*
But see Proposition 64 (2004), enacted by the California electorate, which amends  §§ 17200 et seq. to eliminate the statutory grant of standing to bring actions to enforce those provisions to persons who did not suffer actual injury. 

b.
False Advertising Practices Act, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500 et seq.

The False Advertising Practices Act prohibits disseminating, making or causing to be made untrue or misleading statements concerning services.

*
But see Proposition 64 (2004), enacted by the California electorate, which amends §§ 17500 et seq. to eliminate the statutory grant of standing to bring actions to enforce those provisions to persons who did not suffer actual injury.

2.
Civil Code
a.
Section 54.8
This section entitles individuals with hearing impairments, upon their request, to be provided with an assistive listening system or a computer-aided transcription system.

b. Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1750 et seq.

The Consumer Legal Remedies Act prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices intend to result or resulting in the sale of illegal services.

c.
Section 3345  

Section 3345 provides treble damages for violation of any statute prohibiting unfair or deceptive practices against senior citizens or persons with disabilities.
3.
Code of Civil Procedure
a. Section 1021.5
This section enables courts, when specified circumstances exist, to award attorneys fees to successful parties in actions that have resulted in the enforcement of an important right affecting the public interest.

4.
Government Code 

a.
Sections 4450-4458 

These sections provide that public buildings, structures and facilities shall be accessible to and usable by people with physical disabilities.  Actionable through Civil Code §§ 51, 54.1.

b.
Section 4500
This section requires that all fixed-route transit equipment and public transit structures shall be built so that individuals with disabilities shall have ready access to, from and in such equipment and structures.

c.
Sections 7250-7252
Establishes accessibility requirements for toilet facilities and ramps.

5.
Health and Safety Code
a.
Sections 19952-19954 

Sections requiring places of public amusement and resort, including theaters, concert halls and stadiums, to be accessible to individuals with disabilities.

b.
Sections 19955-19959
Sections require privately funded buildings and facilities to be accessible to individuals with disabilities
6.
Title 24, California Administrative Code
a.
First adopted in July 1992.  State equivalent to Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG).  Promulgated by State Building Standards Commission to establish access standards for buildings built and altered in California.
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